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(4) Failure to provide notice or ori-
entation training pursuant to para-
graphs (f)(2) and (f)(3) of this section 
shall not create any rights or privi-
leges in the persons referenced and 
shall not operate to defeat the jurisdic-
tion of a court of the United States or 
provide a defense or other remedy in 
any proceeding arising under the Act 
or this part. 

(5) Provide training to personnel who 
are authorized under the Act and des-
ignated pursuant to this part to make 
arrests outside the United States of 
persons who allegedly committed a vio-
lation of section 3261(a) of the Act. The 
training, at a minimum, shall include 
the rights of individuals subject to ar-
rest. 

§ 153.5 Procedures. 
(a) Applicability—(1) Offenses and Pun-

ishments. Section 3261(a) of the Act es-
tablishes a separate Federal offense 
under 18 U.S.C. for an act committed 
outside the United States that would 
be a felony crime as if such act had 
been committed within the special 
maritime and territorial jurisdiction of 
the United States, as defined in section 
7 of 18 U.S.C. Charged as a violation of 
section 3261(a) of the Act, the elements 
of the offense and maximum punish-
ment are the same as the crime com-
mitted within the geographical limits 
of section 7 of 18 U.S.C., but without 
the requirement that the conduct be 
committed within such geographical 
limits. See section 1 of the Section-By- 
Section Analysis and Discussion to sec-
tion 3261 in the Report Accompanying 
the Act. 

(2) Persons subject to this part. This 
part applies to certain military per-
sonnel, former military service mem-
bers, and persons employed by or ac-
companying the Armed Forces outside 
the United States, and their depend-
ents, as those terms are defined in sec-
tion 153.3 of this part, alleged to have 
committed an offense under the Act 
while outside the United States. For 
purposes of the Act and this part, per-
sons employed by or accompanying the 
Armed Forces outside the U.S. are sub-
ject to the ‘‘military law’’ of the U.S., 
but only to the extent to which this 
term has been used and its meaning 
and scope have been understood within 

the context of a SOFA or any other 
similar form of international agree-
ment. 

(3) Military Service Members. Military 
service members subject to the Act’s 
jurisdiction are: 

(i) Only those active duty service 
members who, by Federal indictment 
or information, are charged with com-
mitting an offense with one or more de-
fendants, at least one of whom is not 
subject to the UCMJ. See section 
3261(d)(2) of the Act. 

(ii) Members of a Reserve component 
with respect to an offense committed 
while the member was not on active 
duty or inactive duty for training (in 
the case of members of the Army Na-
tional Guard of the United States or 
the Air National Guard of the United 
States, only when in Federal service), 
are not subject to UCMJ jurisdiction 
for that offense and, as such, are ame-
nable to the Act’s jurisdiction without 
regard to the limitation of section 
3261(d)(2) of the Act. 

(4) Former Military Service Members. 
Former military service members sub-
ject to the Act’s jurisdiction are: 

(i) Former service members who were 
subject to the UCMJ at the time the al-
leged offenses were committed, but are 
no longer subject to the UCMJ with re-
spect to the offense due to their release 
or separation from active duty. 

(ii) Former service members, having 
been released or separated from active 
duty, who thereafter allegedly commit 
an offense while in another qualifying 
status, such as while a civilian em-
ployed by or accompanying the Armed 
Forces outside the United States, or 
while the dependent of either or of a 
person subject to the UCMJ. 

(5) Civilians Employed by the Armed 
Forces. Civilian employees employed by 
the U.S. Armed Forces outside the 
United States (as defined in section 
153.3), who commit an offense under the 
Act while present or residing outside 
the U.S. in connection with such em-
ployment, are subject to the Act and 
the provisions of this part. Such civil-
ian employees include: 

(i) Persons employed by the Depart-
ment of Defense (including a non-ap-
propriated fund instrumentality of the 
Department of Defense). 
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(ii) Persons employed as a DoD con-
tractor (including a subcontractor at 
any tier). 

(iii) Employees of a DoD contractor 
(including a subcontractor at any tier). 

(iv) Civilian employees, contractors 
(including subcontractors at any tier), 
and civilian employees of a contractor 
(or subcontractor at any tier) of any 
other Federal agency, or any provi-
sional authority, to the extent such 
employment relates to supporting the 
mission of the Department of Defense 
overseas. 

(6) Civilians Accompanying the Armed 
Forces. Subject to the requirements of 
paragraph (a)(6)(ii) of this section, the 
following persons are civilians accom-
panying the Armed Forces outside the 
United States who are covered by the 
Act and the provisions of this part: 

(i) Dependents of: 
(A) An active duty service member. 
(B) A member of the reserve compo-

nent while the member was on active 
duty or inactive duty for training, but 
in the case of members of the Army 
National Guard of the United States or 
the Air National Guard of the United 
States, only when in Federal service. 

(C) A former service member who is 
employed by or is accompanying the 
Armed Forces outside the United 
States. 

(D) A civilian employee of the De-
partment of Defense (including non-ap-
propriated fund instrumentalities of 
the Department of Defense). 

(E) A contractor (including a subcon-
tractor at any tier) of the Department 
of Defense. 

(F) An employee of a contractor (in-
cluding a subcontractor at any tier) of 
the Department of Defense. 

(ii) In addition to the person being 
the dependent of a person who is listed 
in paragraph (a)(6)(i) of this section, ju-
risdiction under the Act requires that 
the dependent also: 

(A) Reside with one of the persons 
listed in paragraph (a)(6)(i) of this sec-
tion. 

(B) Allegedly commit the offense 
while outside the United States; and 

(C) Not be a national of, or ordinarily 
resident in, the host nation where the 
offense is committed. 

(iii) Command sponsorship of the de-
pendent is not required for the Act and 
this part to apply. 

(iv) If the dependent is a juvenile, as 
defined in section 153.3, who engaged in 
conduct that is subject to prosecution 
under section 3261(a) of the Act, then 
the provisions of chapter 403 of title 18, 
United States Code would apply to U.S. 
District Court prosecutions. 

(7) Persons NOT Subject to the Act or 
the Procedures of this part. (i) Persons 
who are the nationals of, or ordinarily 
resident in, the host nation where the 
offense is committed, regardless of 
their employment or dependent status. 

(ii) Persons, including citizens of the 
United States, whose presence outside 
the United States at the time the of-
fense is committed, is not then as a 
member of the Armed Forces, a civil-
ian employed by the Armed Forces out-
side the United States, or accom-
panying the Armed Forces outside the 
United States. 

(A) Persons (including members of a 
Reserve component) whose presence 
outside the United States at the time 
the offense is committed, is solely that 
of a tourist, a student, or a civilian em-
ployee or civilian accompanying any 
other non-federal agency, organization, 
business, or entity (and thereby can 
not be said to be employed by or ac-
companying the Armed Forces within 
the definitions of those terms as estab-
lished by the Act, as modified) are not 
subject to the Act. Civilian employees 
of an agency, organization, business, or 
entity accompanying the Armed Forces 
outside the U.S. may, by virtue of the 
agency, organization, business, or enti-
ty relationship with the Armed Forces, 
be subject to the Act and this part. 

(B) Persons who are subject to the 
Act and this part remain so while 
present, on official business or other-
wise (e.g., performing temporary duty 
or while in leave status), in a foreign 
country other than the foreign country 
to which the person is regularly as-
signed, employed, or accompanying the 
Armed Forces outside the United 
States. 

(iii) Persons who have recognized 
dual citizenship with the United States 
and who are the nationals of, or ordi-
narily resident in, the host nation 
where the alleged conduct took place 
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are not persons ‘‘accompanying the 
Armed Forces outside the United 
States’’ within the meaning of the Act 
and this part. 

(iv) Juveniles whose ages are below 
the minimum ages authorized for the 
prosecution of juveniles in U.S. Dis-
trict Court under the provisions of 
chapter 403 of title 18, United States 
Code. 

(v) Persons subject to the UCMJ (See 
sections 802 and 803 of title 10, United 
States Code) are not subject to pros-
ecution under the Act unless, pursuant 
to section 3261(d) of the Act, the mem-
ber ceases to be subject to the UCMJ or 
an indictment or information charges 
that the member committed the of-
fense with one or more other defend-
ants, at least one of whom is not sub-
ject to the UCMJ. A member of a Re-
serve component who is subject to the 
UCMJ at the time the UCMJ offense 
was committed is not relieved from 
amenability to UCMJ jurisdiction for 
that offense. Such reserve component 
members are not subject to the Act un-
less section 3261(d)(2) of the Act ap-
plies. Retired members of a regular 
component who are entitled to pay re-
main subject to the UCMJ after retir-
ing from active duty. Such retired 
members are not subject to prosecution 
under the Act unless section 3261(d)(2) 
of the Act applies. 

(vi) Whether Coast Guard members 
and civilians employed by or accom-
panying the Coast Guard outside the 
United States, and their dependents, 
are subject to the Act and this part de-
pends on whether at the time of the of-
fense the Coast Guard was operating as 
a separate Service in the Department 
of Homeland Security or as a Service 
in the Department of the Navy. 

(8) Persons Having a Tenuous Nexus to 
the United States. Third Country Na-
tionals who are not ordinarily resident 
in the host nation, and who meet the 
definition of ‘‘a person accompanying 
the Armed Forces outside the United 
States,’’ may have a nexus to the 
United States that is so tenuous that it 
places into question whether the Act’s 
jurisdiction should be applied and 
whether such persons should be subject 
to arrest, detention, and prosecution 
by U.S. authorities. Depending on the 
facts and circumstances involved, and 

the relationship or connection of the 
foreign national with the U.S. Armed 
Forces, it may be advisable to consult 
first with the DSS/DOJ before taking 
action with a view toward prosecution. 
In addition, to facilitate consultation 
with the government of the nation of 
which the Third Country National is a 
citizen, the State Department should 
be notified of any potential investiga-
tion or arrest of a Third Country Na-
tional. 

(b) Investigation, Arrest, Detention, 
And Delivery Of Persons To Host Nation 
Authorities—(1) Investigation. (i) Inves-
tigations of conduct reasonably be-
lieved to constitute a violation of the 
Act committed outside the United 
States must respect the sovereignty of 
the foreign nation in which the inves-
tigation is conducted. Such investiga-
tions shall be conducted in accordance 
with recognized practices with host na-
tion authorities and applicable inter-
national law, SOFA and other inter-
national agreements. After general co-
ordination with appropriate host na-
tion authorities, as referenced in Ap-
pendix A of this part, specific inves-
tigations shall, to the extent prac-
ticable, be coordinated with appro-
priate local law enforcement authori-
ties, unless not required by agreement 
with host nation authorities. 

(ii) When a Military Criminal Inves-
tigative Organization is the lead inves-
tigative organization, the criminal in-
vestigator, in order to assist DSS/DOJ 
and the designated U.S. Attorney rep-
resentative in making a preliminary 
determination of whether the case war-
rants prosecution under the Act, shall 
provide a copy of the Investigative Re-
port, or a summary thereof, to the Of-
fice of the Staff Judge Advocate of the 
Designated Commanding Officer (DCO) 
at the location where the offense was 
committed for review and transmittal, 
through the Combatant Commander, to 
the DSS/DOJ and the designated U.S. 
Attorney representative. The Office of 
the Staff Judge Advocate shall also 
furnish the DSS/DOJ and the des-
ignated U.S. Attorney representative 
an affidavit or declaration from the 
criminal investigator or other appro-
priate law enforcement official that 
sets forth the probable cause basis for 
believing that a violation of the Act 
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has occurred and that the person iden-
tified in the affidavit or declaration 
has committed the violation. 

(iii) When the Defense Criminal In-
vestigative Service (DCIS) is the lead 
investigative organization, the crimi-
nal investigator, in order to assist the 
DSS/DOJ and the designated U.S. At-
torney representative in making a pre-
liminary determination of whether the 
case warrants prosecution under the 
Act, shall provide a copy of the Inves-
tigative Report, or a summary thereof, 
to the DSS/DOJ and the designated 
U.S. Attorney representative. The 
criminal investigator shall also furnish 
the DSS/DOJ and the designated U.S. 
Attorney representative, an affidavit 
or declaration that sets forth the prob-
able cause basis for believing that a 
violation of the Act has occurred and 
that the person identified in the affi-
davit or declaration has committed the 
violation. Within the parameters of 10 
U.S.C. Chapter 47, the Inspector Gen-
eral may also notify the General Coun-
sel of the Department of Defense and 
the DCO’s Office of the Staff Judge Ad-
vocate at the location where the of-
fense was committed, as appropriate. 

(2) Residence Information. To the ex-
tent that it can be determined from an 
individual’s personnel records, travel 
orders into the overseas theater, pass-
port, or other records, or by ques-
tioning upon arrest or detention, as 
part of the routine ‘‘booking’’ informa-
tion obtained, an individual’s last 
known residence in the United States 
shall be determined and forwarded 
promptly to the DSS/DOJ and the des-
ignated U.S. Attorney representative. 
See Pennsylvania v. Muniz, 496 U.S. 582, 
at 601 (1990) and United States v. 
D’Anjou, 16 F. 3d 604 (4th Cir. 1993). The 
information is necessary to assist in 
determining what law enforcement au-
thorities and providers of pretrial serv-
ices, including those who issue proba-
tion reports, shall ultimately have re-
sponsibility for any case that may de-
velop. Determination of the individ-
ual’s ‘‘last known address’’ in the 
United States is also important in de-
termining what Federal district would 
be responsible for any possible future 
criminal proceedings. 

(i) Due to the venue provisions of sec-
tion 3238 of 18 U.S.C. Chapter 212, Sec-

tions 3261–3267, the DSS/DOJ and the 
designated U.S. Attorney representa-
tive shall be consulted prior to removal 
of persons arrested or charged with a 
violation of the Act by U.S. law en-
forcement officials. The venue for Fed-
eral criminal jurisdiction over offenses 
committed on the high seas or else-
where beyond the jurisdiction of a par-
ticular State or District (as would be 
required under the Act), is in the Fed-
eral district in which the offender is ar-
rested or first brought. However, if the 
individual is not so arrested in or 
brought into any Federal district in 
the United States (i.e., is to be in-
dicted, or information obtained, prior 
to the individual’s return to the United 
States), then an indictment or infor-
mation may be sought in the district of 
the person’s last known residence. If no 
such residence is known, the indict-
ment or information may be filed in 
the District of Columbia. 

(ii) ‘‘First brought’’ connotes the lo-
cation within the U.S. to which the 
person is returned in a custodial sta-
tus. 

(iii) ‘‘Last known residence’’ refers to 
that U.S. location where the person 
lived or resided. It is not necessarily 
the same as the person’s legal domicile 
or home of record. 

(iv) Prompt transmittal of venue in-
formation to the DSS/DOJ and the des-
ignated U.S. Attorney representative 
in the United States may prove helpful 
in determining whether a particular 
case may be prosecuted, and may ulti-
mately be a pivotal factor in deter-
mining whether the host nation or the 
U.S. shall exercise its jurisdiction over 
the matter. 

(v) The Investigative Report, and any 
affidavit or declaration, as well as all 
other documents associated with a case 
shall be transmitted promptly by the 
command Staff Judge Advocate to the 
DSS/DOJ and the designated U.S. At-
torney representative. This may be ac-
complished through the use of fac-
simile or other means of electronic 
communication. 

(3) Notice of Complaint or Indictment. 
Upon receipt of information from com-
mand authorities or Defense Criminal 
Investigation Organizations (the De-
fense Criminal Investigation Service, 
the Army’s Criminal Investigation 
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Command, the Naval Criminal Inves-
tigative Service, and the Air Force Of-
fice of Special Investigations) that a 
person subject to jurisdiction under 
this Act has violated section 3261(a), 
the U.S. Attorney for the District in 
which there would be venue for a pros-
ecution may, if satisfied that probable 
cause exists to believe that a crime has 
been committed and that the person 
identified has committed this crime, 
file a complaint under Federal Rule of 
Criminal Procedure 3. As an alter-
native, the U.S. Attorney may seek the 
indictment of the person identified. In 
either case, a copy of the complaint or 
indictment shall be provided to the Of-
fice of the Staff Judge Advocate of the 
overseas command that reported the 
offense. The DSS/DOJ and the des-
ignated U.S. Attorney representative 
will ordinarily be the source from 
which the command’s Staff Judge Ad-
vocate is able to obtain a copy of any 
complaint or indictment against a per-
son outside the United States who is 
subject to the jurisdiction under the 
Act. This may be accomplished 
through the use of facsimile or other 
means of electronic communication. 

(4) Arrest. (i) Federal Rule of Crimi-
nal Procedure 4 takes the jurisdiction 
of the Act into consideration in stating 
where arrest warrants may be exe-
cuted: ‘‘Location. A warrant may be 
executed, or a summons served, within 
the jurisdiction of the United States or 
anywhere else a federal statute author-
izes an arrest.’’ The Advisory Com-
mittee Note explains that the new lan-
guage reflects the enactment of the 
Military Extraterritorial Jurisdiction 
Act permitting arrests of certain mili-
tary and Department of Defense per-
sonnel overseas. 

(ii) The Act specifically authorizes 
persons in DoD law enforcement posi-
tions, as designated by the Secretary of 
Defense, to make arrests outside the 
United States, upon probable cause and 
in accordance with recognized prac-
tices with host nation authorities and 
applicable international agreements, 
those persons subject to the Act who 
violate section 3261(a) of the Act. Sec-
tion 3262(a) of the Act constitutes au-
thorization by law to conduct such 
functions pursuant to 10 U.S.C. 801–946 
and therefore avoids possible restric-

tions of the Posse Comitatus Act re-
garding military personnel supporting 
civilian law enforcement agencies. 

(iii) When the host nation has inter-
posed no objections after becoming 
aware of the Act, arrests in specific 
cases shall, to the extent practicable, 
be first coordinated with appropriate 
local law enforcement authorities, un-
less not required by agreement with 
host nation authorities. 

(iv) Military and civilian special 
agents assigned to the Defense Crimi-
nal Investigative Organizations are 
hereby authorized by the Secretary of 
Defense to make an arrest, outside the 
United States, of a person who has 
committed an offense under section 
3261(a) of the Act. Civilian special 
agents assigned to Defense Criminal In-
vestigative Organizations while per-
forming duties outside the U.S. shall 
make arrests consistent with the 
standardized guidelines established for 
such agents, as approved in accordance 
with sections 1585a, 4027, 7480, and 9027 
of title 10, United States Code. 

(v) Military personnel and DoD civil-
ian employees (including local nation-
als, either direct hire or indirect hire) 
assigned to security forces, military 
police, shore patrol, or provost offices 
at military installations and other fa-
cilities located outside the United 
States are also authorized to make an 
arrest, outside the United States, of a 
person who has committed an offense 
under section 3261(a) of the Act. This 
authority includes similarly-assigned 
members of the Coast Guard law en-
forcement community, but only when 
the Coast Guard is operating at such 
locations as a Service of the Depart-
ment of the Navy. 

(vi) Law enforcement personnel thus 
designated and authorized by the Sec-
retary of Defense in this part may ar-
rest a person, outside the United 
States, who is suspected of committing 
a felony offense in violation of section 
3261(a) of the Act, when the arrest is 
based on probable cause to believe that 
such person violated section 3261(a) of 
the Act, and when made in accordance 
with applicable international agree-
ments. Because the location of the of-
fense and offender is outside the United 
States, it is not normally expected 
that the arrest would be based on a 
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previously-issued Federal arrest war-
rant. Law enforcement personnel au-
thorized to make arrests shall follow 
the Secretaries of the Military Depart-
ments’ guidelines for making arrests 
without a warrant, as prescribed by 10 
U.S.C. 1585a, 4027, 7480, and 9027. Au-
thorizations issued by military mag-
istrates under the UCMJ may not be 
used as a substitute for Federal arrest 
warrant requirements. 

(vii) The foregoing authorization to 
DoD law enforcement personnel to ar-
rest persons subject to Chapter 212 of 
title 18, United States Code, for viola-
tions of the Act is not intended as a 
limitation upon the authority of other 
Federal law enforcement officers to ef-
fect arrests when authorized to do so. 
(E.g., see 18 U.S.C. 3052 authorizing 
agents of the Federal Bureau of Inves-
tigation to make arrests ‘‘for any fel-
ony cognizable under the laws of the 
United States, 21 U.S.C. 878(a)(3) for 
the same authority for Drug Enforce-
ment Administration agents, and 18 
U.S.C. 3053 for the same authority for 
U.S. Marshals and their deputies.) 

(5) Temporary Detention. (i) The Com-
mander of a Combatant Command, or 
designee, may order the temporary de-
tention of a person, within the Com-
mander’s area of responsibility outside 
the United States, who is arrested or 
charged with a violation of the Act. 
The Commander of the Combatant 
Command, or designee, may determine 
that a person arrested need not be held 
in custody pending the commencement 
of the initial proceedings required by 
section 3265 of the Act and paragraph 
(d) of this section. The Commander of 
the Combatant Command may des-
ignate those component commanders 
or DCO commanders who are also au-
thorized to order the temporary deten-
tion of a person, within the com-
manding officer’s area of responsibility 
outside the United States, who is ar-
rested or charged with a violation of 
the Act. 

(ii) A person arrested may be tempo-
rarily detained in military detention 
facilities for a reasonable period, in ac-
cordance with regulations of the Mili-
tary Departments and subject to the 
following: 

(A) Temporary detention should be 
ordered only when a serious risk is be-

lieved to exist that the person shall 
flee and not appear, as required, for 
any pretrial investigation, pretrial 
hearing or trial proceedings, or the per-
son may engage in serious criminal 
misconduct (e.g., the intimidation of 
witnesses or other obstructions of jus-
tice, causing injury to others, or com-
mitting other offenses that pose a 
threat to the safety of the community 
or to the national security of the 
United States). The decision as to 
whether temporary detention is appro-
priate shall be made on a case-by-case 
basis. Section 3142 of title 18, United 
States Code provides additional guid-
ance regarding conditions on release 
and factors to be considered. 

(B) A person arrested or charged with 
a violation of the Act who is to be de-
tained temporarily shall, to the extent 
practicable, be detained in areas that 
separate them from sentenced military 
prisoners and members of the Armed 
Forces who are in pretrial confinement 
pending trial by courts-martial. 

(C) Separate temporary detention 
areas shall be used for male and female 
detainees. 

(D) Generally, juveniles should not be 
ordered into temporary detention. 
However, should circumstances war-
rant temporary detention, the condi-
tions of such temporary detention 
must, at a minimum, meet the fol-
lowing requirements: juveniles alleged 
to be delinquent shall not be detained 
or confined in any institution or facil-
ity in which the juvenile has regular 
contact with adult persons convicted of 
a crime or awaiting trial on criminal 
charges; insofar as possible, alleged ju-
venile delinquents shall be kept sepa-
rate from adjudicated delinquents; and 
every juvenile in custody shall be pro-
vided with adequate food, heat, light, 
sanitary facilities, bedding, clothing, 
recreation, and medical care, including 
necessary psychiatric, psychological, 
or other care and treatment. Appoint-
ment of a guardian ad litem may be re-
quired under 18 U.S.C. 5034 to represent 
the interests of the juvenile when the 
juvenile’s parents are not present or 
when the parents’ interests may be ad-
verse to that of the juvenile. 

(iii) Persons arrested or charged with 
a violation of the Act, upon being or-
dered into temporary detention and 
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processed into the detention facility, 
shall, as part of the processing proce-
dures, be required to provide the loca-
tion address of their last U.S. residence 
as part of the routine booking ques-
tions securing ‘‘biographical data nec-
essary to complete booking or pretrial 
services.’’ See United States v. D’Anjou, 
16 F. 3d 604 (4th Cir.1993). This informa-
tion shall be recorded in the detention 
documents and made available to the 
DCO’s Office of the Staff Judge Advo-
cate. This information shall be for-
warded with other case file informa-
tion, including affidavits in support of 
probable cause supporting the arrest 
and detention, to the DSS/DOJ. The in-
formation is provided so that the DSS/ 
DOJ may make appropriate prelimi-
nary decisions about venue. See para-
graph (b)(2) of this section. 

(A) Notice of the temporary deten-
tion of any person for a violation of the 
Act shall be forwarded through com-
mand channels, without unnecessary 
delay, to the Combatant Commander, 
who shall advise the General Counsel of 
the Department of Defense, as the rep-
resentative of the Secretary of Defense, 
of all such detentions. At the discre-
tion of the General Counsel of the De-
partment of Defense, other agencies 
and organizations (such as the Legal 
Counsel to the Chairman of the Joint 
Chiefs of Staff and Secretary of the 
Military Department that sponsored 
the person into the foreign country) 
shall be informed, as appropriate. 

(B) Such notice shall include a sum-
mary of the charges, facts and cir-
cumstances surrounding the offenses, 
information regarding any applicable 
SOFA or other international agree-
ments affecting jurisdiction in the 
case, and the reasons warranting tem-
porary detention. 

(iv) If military command authorities 
at the military installation outside the 
United States intend to request a per-
son’s detention by order of the Federal 
Magistrate Judge, the military rep-
resentative assigned to the case shall 
gather the necessary information set-
ting forth the reasons in support of a 
motion to be brought by the attorney 
representing the government at the 
initial proceeding conducted pursuant 
to section 3265 of the Act. 

(v) This part is not intended to elimi-
nate or reduce existing obligations or 
authorities to detain persons in foreign 
countries as required or permitted by 
agreements with host countries. See 
generally, United States v. Murphy, 18 
M.J. 220 (CMA 1984). 

(6) Custody and Transport of Persons 
While in Temporary Detention. (i) The 
Department of Defense may only take 
custody of and transport the person as 
specifically set forth in the Act. This is 
limited to delivery as soon as prac-
ticable to the custody of U.S. civilian 
law enforcement authorities for re-
moval to the United States for judicial 
proceedings; delivery to appropriate 
authorities of the foreign country in 
which the person is alleged to have 
committed the violation of section 
3261(a) of the Act in accordance with 
section 3263; or, upon a determination 
by the Secretary of Defense, or the 
Secretary’s designee, that military ne-
cessity requires it, removal to the 
nearest U.S. military installation out-
side the United States adequate to de-
tain the person and to facilitate the 
initial appearance described in 3265(a) 
of the Act. 

(ii) Responsibility for a detained per-
son’s local transportation, escort, and 
custody requirements remains with the 
command that placed the person in 
temporary detention for a violation of 
section 3261(a) of the Act. This respon-
sibility includes: 

(A) Attendance at official pro-
ceedings and other required health and 
welfare appointments (e.g., appoint-
ments with counsel, medical and dental 
appointments, etc.). 

(B) Delivery to host nation officials 
under section 3263 of the Act. 

(C) Attendance at Initial Proceedings 
conducted under section 3265 of the 
Act. 

(D) Delivery under the Act to the 
custody of U.S. civilian law enforce-
ment authorities for removal to the 
United States. 

(iii) A person who requires the con-
tinued exercise of custody and trans-
portation to appointments and loca-
tions away from the detention facility, 
including delivery of the person to host 
nation officials under section 3263 of 
the Act, may be transferred under the 
custody of command authorities or 
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those law enforcement officers author-
ized to make arrests in paragraphs 
(b)(4)(iv) and (b)(4)(v) of this section. 
Transportation of a detainee outside an 
installation shall be coordinated with 
the host nation’s local law enforce-
ment, as appropriate and in accordance 
with recognized practices. 

(iv) Military authorities retain re-
sponsibility for the custody and trans-
portation of a person arrested or 
charged with a violation of the Act 
who is to be removed from one military 
installation outside the United States 
to another military installation out-
side the United States, including when 
the person is transferred under the pro-
visions of section 3264(b)(5) of the Act. 
Unless otherwise agreed to between the 
sending and receiving commands, it 
shall be the responsibility of the send-
ing command to make arrangements 
for the person’s transportation and 
custody during the transport or trans-
fer to the receiving command. 

(v) In coordination with appropriate 
host nation authorities, U.S. civilian 
law enforcement authorities shall be 
responsible for taking custody of a per-
son arrested or charged with a viola-
tion of the Act and for the removal of 
that person to the United States for 
any pretrial or trial proceedings. DoD 
officials shall consult with the DSS/ 
DOJ to determine which civilian law 
enforcement authority (i.e., U.S. Mar-
shals Service, Federal Bureau of Inves-
tigations, Drug Enforcement Agency, 
or other Federal agency) shall dispatch 
an officer to the overseas’ detention fa-
cility to assume custody of the person 
for removal to the United States. Until 
custody of the person is delivered to 
such U.S. civilian law enforcement au-
thorities, military authorities retain 
responsibility for the custody and 
transportation of the person arrested 
or charged with a violation of the Act, 
to include transportation within the 
host nation to help facilitate the re-
moval of the person to the United 
States under the Act. 

(7) Release From Temporary Detention. 
When a person subject to the Act has 
been placed in temporary detention, in 
the absence of a Criminal Complaint or 
Indictment pursuant to the Federal 
Rules of Criminal Procedure, only the 
Commander who initially ordered de-

tention, or a superior Commander, or a 
Federal Magistrate Judge, may order 
the release of the detained person. If a 
Criminal Complaint or Indictment ex-
ists, or if a Federal Magistrate Judge 
orders the person detained, only a Fed-
eral Magistrate Judge may order the 
release of the person detained. If a Fed-
eral Magistrate Judge orders the per-
son temporarily detained to be released 
from detention, the Commander who 
ordered detention, or a superior Com-
mander, shall cause the person to be 
released. When a person is released 
from detention under this provision, 
the Commander shall implement, to 
the extent practicable within the com-
mander’s authority, any conditions on 
liberty directed in the Federal Mag-
istrate Judge’s order. When the com-
mander who independently ordered the 
person’s temporary detention without 
reliance on a Federal Magistrate 
Judge’s order, or a superior com-
mander, orders a person’s release be-
fore a Federal Magistrate Judge is as-
signed to review the matter, the com-
mander may, within the commander’s 
authority, place reasonable conditions 
upon the person’s release from deten-
tion. 

(i) A person’s failure to obey the con-
ditions placed on his or her release 
from detention, in addition to sub-
jecting that person to the com-
mander’s, or Federal Magistrate 
Judge’s order to be returned to deten-
tion, may consistent with the com-
mander’s authority and applicable pol-
icy, laws, and regulations, subject the 
person to potential criminal sanctions, 
or to administrative procedures lead-
ing to a loss of command sponsorship 
to the foreign country, as well as the 
possibility of additional disciplinary or 
adverse action. 

(ii) A copy of all orders issued by a 
Federal Magistrate Judge concerning 
initial proceedings, detention, condi-
tions on liberty, and removal to the 
United States shall promptly be pro-
vided to the Commander of the Com-
batant Command concerned and the 
Commander of the detention facility at 
which the person is being held in tem-
porary detention. 

(8) Delivery of Persons to Host Nation 
Authorities. (i) Persons arrested may be 
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delivered to the appropriate authori-
ties of the foreign country in which the 
person is alleged to have violated sec-
tion 3261(a) of the Act, when: 

(A) Authorities of a foreign country 
request that the person be delivered for 
trial because the conduct is also a vio-
lation of that foreign country’s laws, 
and 

(B) Delivery of the person is author-
ized or required by treaty or another 
international agreement to which the 
United States is a party. 

(ii) Coast Guard personnel authorized 
to make arrests pursuant to paragraph 
(b)(4)(v) of this section are also author-
ized to deliver persons to foreign coun-
try authorities, as provided in section 
3263 of the Act. 

(iii) Section 3263(b) of the Act calls 
upon the Secretary of Defense, in con-
sultation with the Secretary of State, 
to determine which officials of a for-
eign country constitute appropriate 
authorities to which persons subject to 
the Act may be delivered. For purposes 
of the Act, those authorities are the 
same foreign country law enforcement 
authorities as are customarily involved 
in matters involving foreign criminal 
jurisdiction under an applicable SOFA 
or other international agreement or ar-
rangement between the United States 
and the foreign country. 

(iv) No action may be taken under 
this part with a view toward the pros-
ecution of a person for a violation of 
the Act if a foreign government, in ac-
cordance with jurisdiction recognized 
by the United States, has prosecuted or 
is prosecuting such person for the con-
duct constituting such offense(s), ex-
cept upon the approval of the Attorney 
General or the Deputy Attorney Gen-
eral (or a person acting in either such 
capacity). See section 3261(b) of the 
Act. Requests for an exception shall be 
written and forwarded to the Combat-
ant Commander. The Combatant Com-
mander shall forward the request to 
the General Counsel of the Department 
of Defense, as representative for the 
Secretary of Defense, for review and 
transmittal to the Attorney General of 
the United States. At the discretion of 
the General Counsel of the Department 
of Defense, other agencies and organi-
zations (such as the Legal Counsel to 
the Chairman of the Joint Chiefs of 

Staff and the Secretary of the Military 
Department that sponsored the person 
into the foreign country) shall be in-
formed, as appropriate. 

(v) Except for persons to be delivered 
to a foreign country, and subject to the 
limitations of section 3264 of the Act 
and paragraph (e)(5) of this section, 
persons arrested for conduct in viola-
tion of the Act shall, upon the issuance 
of a removal order by a Federal Mag-
istrate Judge under section 3264(b) of 
the Act, be delivered, as soon as prac-
ticable, to the custody of U.S. civilian 
law enforcement authorities. See para-
graph (b)(6)(iv) of this section. 

(c) Representation. (1) Civilian Defense 
Counsel. (i) Civilian defense counsel 
representation shall not be at the ex-
pense of the Department of Defense or 
the Military Departments. 

(ii) The Act contemplates that a per-
son arrested or charged with a viola-
tion of the Act shall be represented by 
a civilian attorney licensed to practice 
law in the United States. However, it is 
also recognized that in several host na-
tions where there has been a long- 
standing military presence, qualified 
civilian attorneys (including lawyers 
who are U.S. citizens) have established 
law practices in these host nations to 
assist assigned U.S. personnel and to 
represent service members in courts- 
martial, or before host nation courts. 
With the consent of the person arrested 
or charged with a violation of the Act 
who wishes to remain in the foreign 
country, these lawyers can provide ade-
quate representation for the limited 
purpose of any initial proceedings re-
quired by the Act. When the person en-
titled to an attorney or requests coun-
sel, staff judge advocates at such loca-
tions should assemble a list of local ci-
vilian attorneys for the person’s con-
sideration. The list shall contain a dis-
claimer stating that no endorsement 
by the United States government or 
the command is expressed or implied 
by the presence of an attorney’s name 
on the list. 

(A) To the extent practicable, mili-
tary authorities shall establish proce-
dures by which persons arrested or 
charged with a violation of the Act 
may seek the assistance of civilian de-
fense counsel by telephone. Consulta-
tion with such civilian counsel shall be 
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in private and protected by the attor-
ney-client privilege. 

(B) Civilian defense counsel, at no ex-
pense to the Department of Defense, 
shall be afforded the opportunity to 
participate personally in any initial 
proceedings required by the Act that 
are conducted outside the United 
States. When civilian defense counsel 
cannot reasonably arrange to be per-
sonally present for such representa-
tion, alternative arrangements shall be 
made for counsel’s participation by 
telephone or by such other means that 
enables voice communication among 
the participants. 

(C) When at least one participant 
cannot arrange to meet at the location 
outside the United States where initial 
proceedings required by the Act are to 
be conducted, whenever possible ar-
rangements should be made to conduct 
the proceedings by video teleconfer-
ence or similar means. Command video 
teleconference communication systems 
should be used for this purpose, if re-
sources permit, and if such systems are 
not otherwise unavailable due to mili-
tary mission requirements. When these 
capabilities are not reasonably avail-
able, the proceedings shall be con-
ducted by telephone or such other 
means that enables voice communica-
tion among the participants. See sec-
tion 3265 of the Act. 

(D) The above provisions regarding 
the use of teleconference communica-
tion systems apply to any detention 
proceedings that are conducted outside 
the United States under section 3265(b) 
of the Act. 

(E) Civilian defense counsel prac-
ticing in host nations do not gain De-
partment of Defense sponsorship, nor 
any diplomatic status, as a result of 
their role as defense counsel. To the ex-
tent practicable, notice to this effect 
shall be provided to the civilian de-
fense counsel when the civilian defense 
counsel’s identity is made known to 
appropriate military authorities. 

(2) Qualified Military Counsel. (i) 
Counsel representation also includes 
qualified military counsel that the 
Judge Advocate General of the Mili-
tary Department concerned determines 
is reasonably available for the purpose 
of providing limited representation at 
initial proceedings required by the Act 

and conducted outside the United 
States. By agreement with the Depart-
ment of Homeland Security, Coast 
Guard commands and activities located 
outside the United States shall seek to 
establish local agreements with mili-
tary commands for qualified military 
counsel from the Military Departments 
to provide similar limited representa-
tion in cases arising within the Coast 
Guard. The Secretaries of the Military 
Departments shall establish regula-
tions governing representation by 
qualified military counsel. These regu-
lations, at a minimum, shall require 
that the command’s Staff Judge Advo-
cate: 

(ii) Prepare, update as necessary, and 
make available to a Federal Magistrate 
Judge upon request, a list of qualified 
military counsel who are determined to 
be available for the purpose of pro-
viding limited representation at initial 
proceedings. 

(iii) Ensure that the person arrested 
or charged under the Act is informed 
that any qualified military counsel 
shall be made available only for the 
limited purpose of representing that 
person in any initial proceedings that 
are to be conducted outside the United 
States, and that such representation 
does not extend to further legal pro-
ceedings that may occur either in a 
foreign country or the United States. 
The person arrested or charged shall 
also be required, in writing, to ac-
knowledge the limited scope of quali-
fied military counsel’s representation 
and therein waive that military coun-
sel’s further representation in any sub-
sequent legal proceedings conducted 
within a foreign country or the United 
States. The ‘‘Acknowledgement of 
Limited Representation,’’ at appendix 
B of this part, may be used for this pur-
pose. A copy of the ‘‘Acknowledgement 
of Limited Representation’’ shall be 
provided to the person arrested or 
charged under the Act, as well as to 
the qualified military counsel. The 
original acknowledgment shall be kept 
on file in the DCO’s Office of the Staff 
Judge Advocate. 

(iv) Provide available information 
that would assist the Federal Mag-
istrate Judge make a determination 
that qualified civilian counsel are un-
available, and that the person arrested 
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or charged under the Act is unable fi-
nancially to retain civilian defense 
counsel, before a qualified military 
counsel who has been made available is 
assigned to provide limited representa-
tion. See Analysis and Discussion of 
Section 3265 (c), Report Accompanying 
the Act. 

(3) Union Representation. Agency law 
enforcement officials shall comply 
with applicable Federal civilian em-
ployee rights and entitlements, if any, 
regarding collective bargaining unit 
representation under Chapter 71 of title 
5, United States Code, during pretrial 
questioning and temporary detention 
procedures under this part. 

(4) Military Representative. (i) To as-
sist law enforcement officers and the 
U.S. Attorney’s representative as-
signed to a case, a judge advocate, 
legal officer, or civilian attorney-advi-
sor may be appointed as a military rep-
resentative to represent the interests 
of the United States. As appropriate, 
the military representative may be ap-
pointed as a Special Assistant U.S. At-
torney. The military representative 
shall be responsible for assisting the 
command, law enforcement, and U.S. 
Attorney representatives during pre-
trial matters, initial proceedings, and 
other procedures required by the Act 
and this part. These responsibilities in-
clude assisting the U.S. Attorney rep-
resentative determine whether contin-
ued detention is warranted, and to pro-
vide information to the presiding Fed-
eral Magistrate Judge considering the 
following: 

(ii) If there is probable cause to be-
lieve that a violation of the Act has 
been committed and that the person 
arrested or charged has committed it, 

(iii) If the person being temporarily 
detained should be kept in detention or 
released from detention, and, if re-
leased, whether any conditions prac-
ticable and reasonable under the cir-
cumstances, should be imposed. 

(d) Initial Proceedings. (1) A person ar-
rested for or charged with a violation 
of the Act may be entitled to an initial 
appearance before a judge and/or a de-
tention hearing (collectively, the ‘‘ini-
tial proceedings’’). The initial pro-
ceedings are intended to meet the re-
quirements of the Federal Rules of 
Criminal Procedure. The initial pro-

ceedings are not required when the per-
son under investigation for violating 
the Act has not been arrested or tem-
porarily detained by U.S. military au-
thorities, or the person’s arrest or tem-
porary detention by U.S. law enforce-
ment authorities occurs after the per-
son ceases to accompany or be em-
ployed by the Armed Forces outside 
the United States, or the arrest or de-
tention takes place within the United 
States. 

(2) The initial proceedings to be con-
ducted pursuant to the Act and this 
part shall not be initiated for a person 
delivered to foreign country authori-
ties and against whom the foreign 
country is prosecuting or has pros-
ecuted the person for the conduct con-
stituting such offense, except when the 
Attorney General or Deputy Attorney 
General (or a person acting in either 
such capacity) has approved an excep-
tion that would allow for prosecution 
in the United States may initial pro-
ceedings under the Act be conducted, 
under these circumstances. Requests 
for approval of such an exception shall 
be forwarded through the Commander 
of the Combatant Command to the 
General Counsel of the Department of 
Defense, in accordance with paragraph 
(b)(8)(iv) of this section. 

(3) Initial proceedings required by the 
Act and this part shall be conducted, 
without unnecessary delay. In accord-
ance with the U.S. Supreme Court deci-
sion in County of Riverside v. 
McLaughlin, 500 U.S. 44 (1991), the ini-
tial appearance shall be conducted 
within 48 hours of the arrest. The ini-
tial proceedings required by the Act 
shall be conducted when: 

(i) The person arrested has not been 
delivered to foreign country authori-
ties under the provisions of section 3263 
of the Act; or 

(ii) The foreign country authorities 
having custody of the person delivers 
the person to U.S. military authorities 
without first prosecuting the person 
for such conduct as an offense under 
the laws of that foreign country. 

(4) A Federal Magistrate Judge shall 
preside over the initial proceedings 
that are required by the Act and this 
part. The proceedings should be con-
ducted from the United States using 
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video teleconference methods, if prac-
ticable, and with all parties to the pro-
ceedings participating. In the event 
that there is no video teleconference 
capability, or the video teleconference 
capability is unavailable due to mili-
tary requirements or operations, the 
parties to the proceeding shall, at a 
minimum, be placed in contact by tele-
phone. 

(5) Initial proceedings conducted pur-
suant to the Act and this part shall in-
clude the requirement for the person’s 
initial appearance under the Federal 
Rules of Criminal Procedure. The Fed-
eral Magistrate Judge shall determine 
whether probable cause exists to be-
lieve that an offense under section 
3261(a) of the Act has been committed 
and that the identified person com-
mitted it. This determination is in-
tended to meet the due process require-
ments to which the person is entitled, 
as determined by the U.S. Supreme 
Court in Gerstein v. Pugh, 420 U.S. 103 
(1975). 

(6) Initial proceedings shall also in-
clude a detention hearing where re-
quired under 18 U.S.C. 3142 and the Fed-
eral Rules of Criminal Procedure. A de-
tention hearing may be required when: 

(i) The person arrested or charged 
with a violation of the Act has been 
placed in temporary detention and the 
intent is to request continued deten-
tion; or 

(ii) The United States seeks to detain 
a person arrested or charged with a 
violation of the Act who has not pre-
viously been detained. 

(7) A detention hearing shall be con-
ducted by a Federal Magistrate Judge. 
When the person arrested or charged 
requests, the detention hearing be con-
ducted while the person remains out-
side the United States, detention hear-
ing shall be conducted by the same 
Federal Magistrate Judge presiding 
over the initial proceeding and shall be 
conducted by telephone or other means 
that allow for voice communication 
among the participants, including the 
person’s defense counsel. If the person 
does not so request, or if the Federal 
Magistrate Judge so orders, the deten-
tion hearing shall be held in the United 
States after the removal of the person 
to the United States. 

(8) In the event that the Federal 
Magistrate Judge orders the person’s 
release prior to trial, and further di-
rects the person’s presence in the dis-
trict in which the trial is to take place, 
the U.S. Attorney Office’s representa-
tive responsible for prosecuting the 
case shall inform the military rep-
resentative and the DCO’s Office of the 
Staff Judge Advocate. 

(9) Under circumstances where the 
person suspected of committing an of-
fense in violation of the Act has never 
been detained or an initial proceeding 
conducted, the presumption is that a 
trial date shall be established at which 
the defendant would be ordered to ap-
pear. Such an order would constitute 
an order under section 3264(b)(4) of the 
Act that ‘‘otherwise orders the person 
to be removed.’’ The person’s failure to 
appear as ordered shall be addressed by 
the Court as with any other failure to 
comply with a valid court order. 

(10) The DCO’s Office of the Staff 
Judge Advocate shall assist in arrang-
ing for the conduct of initial pro-
ceedings required by the Act and this 
part, and shall provide a military rep-
resentative to assist the U.S. Attor-
ney’s Office representative in pre-
senting the information for the Federal 
Magistrate Judge’s review. The mili-
tary representative shall also provide 
any administrative assistance the Fed-
eral Magistrate Judge requires at the 
location outside the United States 
where the proceedings shall be con-
ducted. 

(e) Removal Of Persons To The United 
States Or Other Countries. (1) In accord-
ance with the limitation established by 
section 3264 of the Act, military au-
thorities shall not remove, to the 
United States or any other foreign 
country, a person suspected of vio-
lating section 3261(a) of the Act, except 
when: 

(i) The person’s removal is to another 
foreign country in which the person is 
believed to have committed a violation 
of section 3261(a) of the Act; or 

(ii) The person is to be delivered, 
upon request, to authorities of a for-
eign country under section 3263 of the 
Act and paragraph (b)(8) of this sec-
tion; or 

VerDate Mar<15>2010 10:08 Aug 26, 2010 Jkt 220124 PO 00000 Frm 00599 Fmt 8010 Sfmt 8010 Y:\SGML\220124.XXX 220124w
w

oo
ds

2 
on

 D
S

K
1D

X
X

6B
1P

R
O

D
 w

ith
 C

F
R



590 

32 CFR Ch. I (7–1–10 Edition) Pt. 153, App. A 

(iii) The person is arrested or charged 
with a violation of the Act and the per-
son is entitled to, and does not waive, 
a preliminary examination under Fed-
eral Rule of Criminal Procedure 5.1, in 
which case the person shall be removed 
to the U.S. for such examination; or 

(iv) The person’s removal is ordered 
by a Federal Magistrate Judge. See 
paragraph (e)(2) of this section; or 

(v) The Secretary of Defense, or the 
Secretary’s designee, directs the person 
be removed, as provided in section 
3264(b)(5) of the Act and paragraph 
(e)(3) of this section. 

(2) Removal By Order Of A Federal 
Magistrate Judge. Military authorities 
may remove a person suspected of vio-
lating section 3261(a) of the Act to the 
United States, when: 

(i) A Federal Magistrate Judge orders 
that the person be removed to the 
United States to be present at a deten-
tion hearing; or 

(ii) A Federal Magistrate Judge or-
ders the detention of the person prior 
to trial (See 18 U.S.C. 3142(e)) in which 
case the person shall be promptly re-
moved to the United States for such 
detention; or 

(iii) A Federal Magistrate Judge oth-
erwise orders the person be removed to 
the United States. 

(3) Removal By Direction of the Sec-
retary of Defense or Designee. The Sec-
retary of Defense, or designee, may 
order a person’s removal from a foreign 
country within the Combatant Com-
mand’s geographic area of responsi-
bility when, in his sole discretion, such 
removal is required by military neces-
sity. See section 3264(b)(5) of the Act. 
Removal based on military necessity 
may be authorized in order to take into 
account any limiting factors that may 
result from military operations, as well 
as the capabilities and conditions asso-
ciated with a specific location. 

(i) When the Secretary of Defense, or 
designee, determines that a person ar-
rested or charged with a violation of 
the Act should be removed from a for-
eign country, the person shall be re-
moved to the nearest U.S. military in-
stallation outside the United States 
where the limiting conditions requiring 
such a removal no longer apply, and 
where there are available facilities and 
adequate resources to temporarily de-

tain the person and conduct the initial 
proceedings required by the Act and 
this part. 

(ii) The relocation of a person under 
this paragraph does not authorize the 
further removal of the person to the 
United States, unless that further re-
moval is authorized by an order issued 
by a Federal Magistrate Judge under 
paragraph (e)(2) of this section. 

(iii) Delegation. The Commander of a 
Combatant Command, and the Com-
mander’s principal assistant, are dele-
gated authority to make the deter-
mination, based on the criteria stated 
in paragraph (e)(3) of this section, that 
a person arrested or charged with a 
violation of the Act shall be removed 
from a foreign country under section 
3264(b)(5) of the Act and this part. Fur-
ther delegation is authorized, but the 
delegation of authority is limited to a 
subordinate commander within the 
command who is designated as a gen-
eral court-martial convening authority 
under the UCMJ. 

(4) A person who is removed to the 
United States under the provisions of 
the Act and this part and who is there-
after released from detention, and oth-
erwise at liberty to return to the loca-
tion outside the United States from 
which he or she was were removed, 
shall be subject to any requirements 
imposed by a Federal District Court of 
competent jurisdiction. 

(5) Where a person has been removed 
to the United States for a detention 
hearing or other judicial proceeding 
and a Federal Magistrate Judge orders 
the person’s release and permits the 
person to return to the overseas loca-
tion, the Department of Defense (in-
cluding the Military Department origi-
nally sponsoring the person to be em-
ployed or to accompany the Armed 
Forces outside the United States) shall 
not be responsible for the expenses as-
sociated with the return of the person 
to the overseas location, or the per-
son’s subsequent return travel to the 
United States for further court pro-
ceedings that may be required. 

APPENDIX A TO PART 153—GUIDELINES 

(a) Civilians employed by the Armed 
Forces outside the United States who com-
mit felony offenses while outside the U.S. 
are subject to U.S. criminal jurisdiction 
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